

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2020

Effects of Blended Learning Using the Rotation Model on Fourth and Fifth Grade Students' Mathematics Scores

Heather Roach Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Instructional Media Design Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Education

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Heather A. Roach

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Julie Frese, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. Markus Berndt, Committee Member, Education Faculty Dr. Nicolae Nistor, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2020

Abstract

Effects of Blended Learning Using the Rotation Model on Fourth and Fifth Grade

Students' Mathematics Scores

by

Heather A. Roach

MA, University of Indianapolis, 2013

MA, Florida Atlantic University, 2003

BS, University of Southern Indiana, 2000

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment

Walden University

November 2020

Abstract

The problem addressed in this quantitative study was that school administrators are allocating funds for implementing blended learning using the rotation model into mathematics classrooms without knowing if it is effective in improving student achievement in mathematics. The purpose of this study was to determine the effect of blended learning using the rotation model on fourth and fifth grade students' achievement in mathematics. Mayer's cognitive theory of multimedia learning guided this study. In this quantitative quasi-experimental comparative study, data from N = 591 fourth and fifth grade students and N = 3 principals from three selected central Indiana elementary schools were collected using a descriptive survey. Subsequently, an independent sample t test was used to determine if there were differences in terms of Northwest Evaluation Association (NWEA) Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores. The t test results indicated that there were no statistically significant differences in terms of NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores of fourth and fifth grade students who participated in blended learning using the rotation model and students who were in the traditional classroom. Educator awareness of the effect of blended learning using the rotation model may help support positive social change for classroom teachers by allowing school leaders to make informed decisions on how to increase students' capacity for learning. Positive social change may result for fourth and fifth grade mathematics students as the 29 selected central Indiana teachers use a blended learning approach during mathematics instruction. These decisions may help increase selected central Indiana fourth and fifth grade students' achievement in mathematics.

Effects of Blended Learning Using the Rotation Model on Fourth and Fifth Grade Students' Mathematics Scores

by

Heather A. Roach

MA, University of Indianapolis, 2013

MA, Florida Atlantic University, 2003

BS, University of Southern Indiana, 2000

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment

Walden University

November 2020

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to my family. Words cannot even begin to express how much I appreciate all your support throughout this journey. To my amazing husband Greg, thank you for your love, encouragement, and support! You have been my anchor during this process, and I could have never gotten through this without you. To my parents, thank you for always encouraging and supporting me through anything! I am truly blessed by your unwavering support! Finally, thank you to my amazing daughters, Bry and Addy. The two of you inspire me to always be better. You are both beautiful and smart and have supported me to help me find the strength to complete this dissertation.

Acknowledgments

I would like to acknowledge Dr. Julie Frese for her support! I truly appreciate the timely feedback and our weekly phone calls to help support and guide me throughout this process. Thank you as well to Dr. Markus Berndt for providing specific feedback and suggestions that helped me strengthen my study. I would also like to thank the URR, Dr. Nistor, for reviewing my study and for providing feedback to help me complete this dissertation. Finally, I would like to thank my mentor, Dr. Tim Long, for his continued support and guidance throughout this entire dissertation process. I appreciate the time, encouragement, and support that he has offered to me.

List of Tablesiv
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study1
Introduction1
Background
Problem Statement
Research Question and Hypotheses
Theoretical Framework for the Study10
Nature of the Study12
Definitions13
Assumptions14
Scope and Delimitations15
Limitations15
Significance16
Summary17
Chapter 2: Literature Review
Introduction
Search Strategies
Theoretical Framework19
Cognitive Theory of Multimedia Learning19
Literature Review Related to Key Variables
Defining Blended Learning

Table of Contents

Research on Blended Learning	
Blended Learning Implementation at Study School Site	27
Summary	
Chapter 3: Research Method	
Introduction	
Research Design and Rationale	
Methodology	
Population	
Sampling and Sampling Procedures	
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	
Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs	
Data Analysis Plan	
Research Question	
Testing of the Hypotheses	
Additional Exploratory Analyses and Supplemental Comparisons	
Threats to Validity	
Ethical Procedures	
Data Collection	
Risks 39	
Role of the Researcher	
Treatment of Data	
Summary	

Chapter 4: Results	41
Data Collection	42
Timeframe and Recruitment	42
Baseline Demographics	42
Study Results	45
Summary	47
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	49
Interpretation of Findings	49
Limitations of the Study	53
Recommendations	53
Implications	55
Conclusions	57
References	59
Appendix A: G*Power Results	70
Appendix B: Informed Consent	71
Appendix C: Sample Invitation Email to Participants	73
Appendix D: Survey Results	75

List of Tables

Table 1. Time Allotment for Instruction	
Table 2. Group Statistics	46
Table 3. Independent Samples Test	47

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Introduction

Since 2016, school principals have started to focus on the impact of blended learning on selected central Indiana fourth and fifth grade student mathematics achievement (Dziuban, Picciano, Graham, & Moskal, 2016). Banyen, Viriyavejakul, and Ratanaolarn (2016) defined blended learning as an instructional practice that mixes faceto-face and online educational delivery of instruction. Prescott, Bundschuh, Kazakoff, and Macaruso (2018) described blended learning as an instructional practice where students have some control over the pace and location of their learning. As educators are being challenged with meeting the various learning needs of students in their classrooms, blended learning has gained momentum, and schools are continuing to transform classrooms by moving away from traditional whole class teaching (Lin, Tseng, & Chiang, 2017).

The problem addressed in this quantitative study is that selected central Indiana school administrators are allocating funds for implementing blended learning using the rotation model into the mathematics classroom without knowing if it is effective in improving student achievement in mathematics. Blended learning using the rotation model has students rotate on a fixed schedule or at the teacher's discretion between learning modalities, and at least one rotation involves online learning. In the traditional teaching model, teachers provide instruction in a whole group setting for introducing grade level mathematics standards and objectives for learning, instruction, and practice. In this study, the current research indicates that the gap in the literature tends to focus on

the secondary level grades six through twelve, and different models of blended learning like flipped classroom. Prescott et al. (2018) stated that there is a lack of research on the effect of blended learning at the elementary age level. This study was conducted to examine the effect of blended learning using the rotation model on 29 classrooms of selected central Indiana fourth and fifth grade students' achievement in mathematics. In this study, I identified implications for positive social change for selected central Indiana fourth and fifth grade teachers. Educator awareness of the effect of blended learning on selected central Indiana fourth and fifth grade student mathematics achievement may help support positive social change for selected central Indiana classroom teachers by allowing the three selected central Indiana school principals to make informed decisions about instructional methods. These decisions may help increase selected central Indiana fourth and fifth grade students' achievement in mathematics.

Chapter 1 includes the background, problem statement, purpose, research question, hypotheses, theoretical framework, nature of the study, definitions, assumptions, scope, limitations, and significance of the study. In the background section, I focus on current research regarding blended learning and address the gap in literature to identify why additional research is beneficial. In the problem section, I address that selected central Indiana schools are allocating educational funds into implementing blended learning into selected central Indiana fourth and fifth grade mathematics classroom without knowing if it is an effective instructional practice in terms of improving student achievement in mathematics. Next, the purpose section of this quantitative study examines the effect of blended learning using the rotation model on selected central Indiana fourth and fifth grade students' achievement in mathematics. In the theoretical framework section, I describe how the cognitive theory of multimedia learning can support why blended learning using the rotation model should impact selected central Indiana fourth and fifth grade student learning. In the nature of the study section, I identify the approach used to address the research question. This section also includes the methodology and design of the study. In the scope and delimitations section, I discuss the boundaries and generalizability of the research, followed by the limitations section. Finally, in the significance section, I address implications for how this study's findings will add to current research, support professional practice, and lead to positive social change.

Background

Teachers in selected central Indiana are beginning to transition from the traditional classroom model to using a blended learning model according to the school district's Fall 2016-2017 newsletter. Three selected central Indiana schools began implementing blended learning using station rotation in 2016. Blended learning has gained momentum in K-12 classrooms. Selected central Indiana elementary educators are working to meet the learning needs of their students and are being required by administrators to move away from the traditional model of teaching (Lin, Tseng, & Chiang, 2017).

Although there are instructors using blended learning, there is a lack of research on blended learning using the rotation model at the fourth and fifth grade level to determine if this is an effective practice. In 2010, there was a meta-analysis of research regarding blended learning conducted by the United States Department of Education (Means et al., 2010). The results in this meta-analysis revealed that blended learning was being implemented more in the classrooms; however, data on the effectiveness of blended learning are limited. Harris, Al-Bataineh, and Al-Bataineh (2016) analyzed if blended learning using one-to-one technology had an impact on student achievement and motivation. Harris et al. included fourth grade participants from two different classrooms in a Title 1 elementary school in their study. Data were gathered through the Pearson enVision Math series with Topic Tests, Discovery Education Assessment results, and attendance records. The Pearson envision Math series was the mathematics curriculum that the teachers used to support instruction. This curriculum included different types of assessments to measure student achievement. These assessments included the topic tests, and discovery education assessments. The authors used student assessment data from these tests to analyze the results of their study. One-to-one technology, one laptop for each student, may be a factor in increasing student academic achievement and motivation to learn (Harris et al. 2016). Minicozzi (2018) said that preservice teachers have a need for embedded technology integration throughout teacher preparation coursework to better prepare K-2 teachers. By including the integration of technology in the teacher preparation courses, teachers may be able to effectively integrate blended learning with the use of iPads into lessons which may benefit student learning.

Lin et al. (2017) examined the effects of blended learning on junior high students' learning achievement and students' attitudes toward mathematics. The authors included 54 seventh grade students for 8 months in the study; one group was a control group that received traditional teaching methods of whole class teaching, while one group was the experimental group that received instruction using the blended learning model with the use of videos, guided questions, and the use of Moodle. The authors used a pre- and posttest to measure student achievement. The post-hoc comparison showed that the experimental group had significantly higher posttest scores, M = 64.30, compared to the control group's posttest scores, M = 54.70. Lin et al. found that the experimental group that used blended learning in the mathematics classrooms showed statistically higher achievement scores on the mathematics posttest. The results supported the first hypothesis that there was a significant difference in academic achievement of students that participated in blended learning during mathematics.

Agosto, Copeland, and Zach (2014) investigated the use of student blogs to test the benefits of using a blended learning format. Twenty-eight Library and Information Science (LIS) students were enrolled and participated in the student blog throughout this course and the authors randomly selected 10 student blogs and utilized thematic analysis. Agosto et al. developed three categories to analyze the data: keys to success, educational benefits, and drawbacks. The authors reported that results indicated that the LIS students showed improvement in keys to success, participation, and personalization, and educational benefits such as increased student achievement. Since selected Central Indiana elementary principals are requiring teachers to transform their classrooms into a blended learning environment, the results are relevant to inform educators of how students are being instructed, assessed, and evaluated using technology. The gap in research regarding the effect of blended learning using the rotation model on elementary student achievement demonstrates the need for further investigation for principals and teachers for the transition of the model of instruction, blended learning using the rotation model, in the mathematics classroom. Yaghmour (2016) recommended doing further research on the use of blended learning specifically in the mathematics classroom. Prescott et al. (2018) stated that there is a lack of research on the effect of blended learning at the elementary level. Since there are multiple methods of blended learning. Clayton Christensen Institute (2019) recognized four methods of blended learning: (a) rotation, (b) flex, (c) a la carte, and (d) enriched virtual model and these different methods of blended learning will be discussed further in Chapter 2. The purpose of this quantitative study was to determine the effect of blended learning using the rotation model on fourth and fifth grade students' achievement in mathematics.

Problem Statement

Selected central Indiana schools are requiring teachers to transform their classrooms into a blended learning environment, according to the school district's Fall 2016-2017 newsletter. The problem addressed in this quantitative study is that school administrators at selected central Indiana schools are allocating educational funds for implementing blended learning using the rotation model into the mathematics classroom without knowing if it is effective in improving student achievement in mathematics. Eyyam and Yaratan (2014) discussed the importance of preparing students by providing blended instruction that integrates technology into the classrooms so that students can develop higher order thinking skills and experience differentiated learning opportunities.

Since mathematics requires higher order thinking skills, blended learning using the rotation model may be a valid model for instruction in mathematics, but research is lacking in this area. Current research tends to focus on high school level students, or the subject area of reading (Prescott et al., 2018). Dziuban et al. (2016) wrote that one of the major hurdles for educators is the lack of solid research at the elementary level. Working (2018) suggested that further research on the effects of blended learning using technology in the mathematics classroom may provide further data on the effect on student achievement. Yudt and Columba (2017) stated that college students in the elementary education program showed improvement, as measured by a mathematics achievement pre and posttest, when using blended learning; however, further research should be conducted to determine the effect of blended learning on students' mathematics achievement.

With the shift to blended learning using the rotation model, selected central Indiana elementary students are now experiencing a combination of face-to-face and online instruction to learn and apply mathematical skills. Horn and Staker (2014) stated that this model of blended learning has students rotate through different types of learning during a course or subject, to include kinesthetic, visual, auditory, and tactile activities. Since blended learning incorporates both face-to-face and online learning, the use of technology plays an important role in this instructional practice. Sargent and Miles (2016) discussed the importance of utilizing technology in blended learning for a meaningful purpose and stated that more research should be conducted to examine the effect on student achievement when transforming instruction by integrating technology. Yen-Ting Lin (2016) investigated the importance of integrating technology into the traditional classroom in order to promote higher order thinking skills and problem-solving skills and suggested further research be conducted in order to evaluate the effect of blended learning on student achievement. Agosto, Copeland, and Zach (2013) examined the effect of blended learning of on-line LIS student's achievement and suggested that further research should be done to develop an understanding of the effects of blended learning, that is delivered in person, on student achievement.

Purpose

The purpose of this quantitative study was to determine the effect of blended learning using the rotation model on three selected central Indiana fourth and fifth grade students' achievement in mathematics. In this study, I observed 29 classes of fourth and fifth grade students because I wanted to add to the research at the elementary level, specifically fourth and fifth grade since these grade levels participate in the NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment. The NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment is an adaptive assessment that continues to adjust as students answer questions. This assessment is used to accurately measure a student's performance. The NWEA was developed in 1980 to measure growth and proficiency of student learning so that teachers can develop instruction to meet the learning needs of each student. The NWEA (2019) reported that this instrument is used in more than 9,500 school districts in the United States, as well as education agencies in 145 countries. In this study, I used the NWEA

Map Growth Mathematics pre and posttest scores to compare the growth scores of students who participated in a blended learning using the rotation model in the mathematics classroom to the scores of peers who do not. I also addressed the extent of the teacher use of blended learning in selected central Indiana elementary schools and how blended learning using the rotation model has affected fourth and fifth grade students' NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores. In this study, I had selected central Indiana school principals identify if teachers are using blended learning using the rotation model during mathematics instruction. Yudt and Columba (2017) investigated the use of blended learning with 57 students that were enrolled in an elementary teaching program to investigate if the use of blended learning in their mathematics course showed significant improvement in the student's mathematics performance. The authors reported that there was not a significant difference in the student's mathematics performance as measured by a mathematics achievement test. The authors stated that due to the lack of quantitative research regarding blended learning, given the current trend of utilizing blended learning in the classrooms, there is a need for further research regarding the effect of blended learning on students' mathematics achievement.

Research Question and Hypotheses

This research was conducted to examine the effect of blended learning using the rotation model on fourth and fifth grade students' achievement in mathematics. McCusker and Gunaydin (2019) explained that the researcher uses quantitative data to attempt to explain what is observed. Data analysis indicated if there were differences in terms of NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores for fourth and fifth grade students who participated for 16 weeks in blended learning using the rotation model and students who did not. The following research question was used to guide my study:

RQ: Is there a statistically significant difference in terms of NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores of fourth and fifth grade students who participate for 16 weeks in blended learning using the rotation model and those in the traditional classroom?

 H_0 : There is no statistically significant difference in terms of NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores of fourth and fifth grade students who participate for 16 weeks in blended learning using the rotation model and those in the traditional classroom.

 $H_{\rm a}$: There is a statistically significant difference in terms of NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores of fourth and fifth grade students who participate for 16 weeks in blended learning using the rotation model and those in the traditional classroom.

Theoretical Framework for the Study

The cognitive theory of multimedia learning was used to guide my study in analyzing the effects of blended learning on fourth and fifth grade students' mathematics scores. Mayer (2009, 2014) stated that the cognitive theory of multimedia learning may address the issue of how to provide effective instructional strategies that help support learning. The cognitive theory of multimedia learning was used in my study to help establish if the teacher's use of blended learning through the rotation model is an effective instructional practice for selected central Indiana fourth and fifth grade students. Mayer (2009, 2014) stated that learning is an active process involving using prior knowledge for new learning through selection, filtering, organizing, and integrating new information. Prescott et al. (2018) said that a major component of blended learning is that students have some control over the pace and location of their learning. Blended learning using the rotation model can allow students to receive differentiated instruction using technology. Prescott et al. explained that the use of technology allows students to work at their own pace and at their level of learning to master the content.

Blended learning using the rotation model can support the concept of limited capacity by allowing students the ability to control how much information is processed. Mayer (2009, 2014) explained there is a limit to how much cognitive information a student can process. Horn et al. (2014) stated that the rotation model allows students and teachers to control the amount of time spent on a specific learning task. The cognitive theory of multimedia learning demonstrates why students who receive instruction through the format of blended learning using the rotation model can learn more content than students who are exposed to a more traditional classroom. Horn et al. (2014) explained that the rotation model allows students to learn mathematics content while using different learning modalities during a class session. The cognitive theory of multimedia learning was used to guide my study in analyzing the effects of blended learning using the rotation model on fourth and fifth grade mathematics student achievement in selected Indiana schools.

Nature of the Study

The nature of this study was quantitative. In this research, I used growth data from the NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment gathered from 29 classrooms of fourth and fifth grade student mathematics assessment scores from selected central Indiana elementary schools. A total of 300 students were included in this study. Using a quasi-experimental approach, an independent sample *t* test to analyze data from nonequivalent groups was conducted. I investigated the effect of blended learning using the rotation model on fourth and fifth grade students' achievement in mathematics.

I analyzed differences in terms of NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores of selected central Indiana fourth and fifth grade students who participated for 16 weeks in blended learning using the rotation model as well as students who stayed in the traditional classroom. The principals answered survey questions about instructors. The quasi-experimental research design was used because my study lacked random assignment (White & Sabarwal, 2014). Differences between the two groups involved learning ability, attendance, and behavior of students. The quasi-experimental design aligns with my study because I did not randomly assign students who participated in blended learning using the rotation model or those who participated in the traditional classroom. Since this study involved data that is not randomly assigned, this quasiexperimental research design was appropriate (Trochim, 2016).

I used a descriptive survey that was completed by three selected central Indiana school principals to gather data on what type of instruction, blended learning using the rotation model, or traditional model, was being used in the mathematics classroom. The

three selected central Indiana schools each had one principal. Principals were asked to complete a descriptive survey that provided information about each selected fourth and fifth grade teacher. Since principals in these selected central Indiana schools evaluate the fourth and fifth grade teachers, they may be able to provide this information using the information that is included in the survey directions. A benefit of conducting this type of survey is that it provides empirical data which reports real-world observations (Kelley, Clark, Brown, & Sitzia, 2003). The descriptive survey helped to identify information for which type of instruction, blended learning using the rotation model, or traditional, that each fourth and fifth grade classroom teacher was using during mathematics instruction. This survey allowed me to gather information on teachers without manipulating the survey data that was reported from each elementary principal. The survey data were important to provide information on the type of instruction, blended learning using the rotation model, or the traditional model, each fourth and fifth grade teacher uses during mathematics. The three selected central Indiana principals identified the type instruction, blended learning using the rotation model, or traditional teaching model, that each fourth and fifth grade teacher used during mathematics.

Definitions

Blended Learning: A type of instruction that includes part of a lesson delivered through direct instruction provided by a teacher and part of the lesson is delivered using online learning. During the online learning part of instruction, students have some control over time, place, and pace (Clayton Christensen Institute, 2012).

NWEA Map Growth Mathematics Assessment: Northwest Evaluation Association (NWEA) measures a student's academic progress throughout the year. This assessment is adaptive and continues to adjust as students answer questions. This assessment is used to accurately measure performance. Reports from this assessment help teachers identify instructional needs of each individual student (NWEA, 2019).

Rotation model of blended learning: Students rotate on a fixed schedule or at the teacher's discretion between learning modalities, and at least one rotation involves online learning. Student learning activities may include small-group activities or full-class instruction, group projects, individual tutoring, and pencil-and-paper assignments. (Clayton Christensen Institute, 2012, para. 2).

Traditional teaching method: Teachers provide instruction in a whole group setting for introducing grade level mathematics standards and objectives for learning, instruction, and practice. Instruction is delivered face to face by a teacher in a brick and mortar setting (Bonk & Graham, 2013).

Assumptions

There were two assumptions made for this study. First, I assumed that both models of instruction, blended learning using the rotation model and traditional, are aligned with the NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment and that data gathered from the school district is the same for all three schools. The second assumption in this study was that daily mathematics instructional time was followed by the teachers as intended by the Indiana Department of Education. Each selected central Indiana school developed a daily student schedule that met state requirements of providing sixty minutes of mathematics instruction each day. There are many factors that can impede instructional time by causing a disruption in instruction, such as safety drills, student behavior, and teacher absence. Instructional time can influence student learning; however, it is assumed that both groups received equal amounts of instructional time (Yeşil Dağlı, 2019).

Scope and Delimitations

Participants in this research were from 29 selected central Indiana fourth and fifth grade classrooms in a suburban district. The results of this study limited generalization to other grade levels and other populations. Second, in this study I focused only on the rotation model of blended learning. Given that this study was specifically focused on the rotation model of blended learning, the research was limited to this model and limits generalization to other models of blended learning.

Limitations

Two limitations have been identified in this study. First, the quality of the information that was gathered is limited by how accurately the three selected central Indiana principals responded to the descriptive survey. The principals were asked to identify which type of instruction each fourth and fifth grade teacher used during mathematics. The survey data that was gathered is limited to the principal's response. A follow-up phone call was conducted for participants who provided sparse answers or failed to respond to the initial survey. Second, since teachers worked in a school corporation where professional development was provided weekly and there was a priority placed on technology integration into the classroom, the results may not be

applicable to surrounding school corporations that have limited technology and less focused professional development opportunities.

Significance

This study provided insight into how blended learning using the rotation model affects 29 selected central Indiana fourth and fifth grade students' mathematics assessment scores. I worked to provide original research and empirical data so that Indiana elementary administrators can determine if allocating funds and professional development resources into implementing blended learning using the rotation model into the elementary classroom is a meaningful practice. Positive social change may result for fourth and fifth grade mathematics students as the 29 selected central Indiana teachers use a blended learning approach in the mathematics classroom by increasing student engagement and academic achievement in mathematics (Dziuban, Graham, Moskal, Norberg, Sicilia, 2018). Educator awareness of the effect of blended learning on student mathematics achievement may help support positive social change by allowing school leaders to make informed decisions on how to increase the selected central Indiana fourth and fifth grade students' capacity for learning. The results of this study will be shared with the three selected principals so they may use the findings to determine if the use of blended learning is an effective model of instruction during mathematics instruction. The findings of this study can be used by these three selected principals as a data resource to monitor the effect of blended learning on students' mathematics assessment scores. If these three selected principals continue to have teachers that use blended learning with the rotation model, the results from this study can be the starting data and then the

principals and teachers can continue to review the data from additional NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores over time.

Summary

This study includes research on the effectiveness of blended learning using the rotation model. Using the framework of the theory of multimedia learning, I sought to determine if the incorporation of blended learning using the rotation model affects selected central Indiana fourth and fifth grade students' achievement in mathematics. In Chapter 2, I will provide a review of the literature regarding the effects of blended learning and theory of multimedia learning.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Introduction

As technology is added into K-12 classrooms, educators are working to meet various learning needs of their students. The effect of blended learning using the rotation model on academic achievement at the elementary level has not been addressed adequately in research, even though blended learning is being implemented rapidly in elementary classrooms. This study will add to the research on the effect of blended learning using the rotation model at the fourth and fifth grade level in mathematics. To measure academic achievement, I used data from the NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment from selected central Indiana schools.

The following literature review provides information on research that has information regarding how blended learning has been implemented in the classroom. In the first section of the literature review, I describe search strategies I used to collect data for the study. In the second section, I discuss the theoretical framework used in this study. I discuss blended learning and the traditional classroom in the third section of this chapter. The next section of the literature review includes a discussion of how the selected central Indiana schools are currently using blended learning in some classrooms.

Search Strategies

I conducted this search through Walden University Library's education databases. These databases included ERIC, SAGE, ProQuest, and Academic Search Complete. The first general search resulted in 17,527 sources. To narrow the search, I looked at peerreviewed articles in full text published between 2014 and 2019. With these additional search refinements, search results listed 7,502 sources. I used the following key terms: *blended learning, hybrid learning, rotation model, K-12, education, effectiveness, elementary,* and *mathematics*. To continue to narrow the search, additional key terms were added: *fourth and fifth grade*. This search result listed 19 sources.

Additional research was also conducted using Google and Google Scholar. When using these search engines, the same key terms that I used to search the Walden University Library database were used. The results from this search included additional articles, as well as government documents that discussed blended learning in the classroom. I did not find specific results that discussed the effect of blended learning using the rotation model on student mathematics achievement in Indiana using NWEA Map Growth Mathematics Assessment results.

Theoretical Framework

For this study, I used the cognitive theory of multimedia learning as the theoretical framework to investigate blended learning using the rotation model. The cognitive theory of multimedia learning was used in my study to explain whether the use of blended learning through the rotation model by selected central Indiana teachers is an effective instructional practice to use in classrooms. This theory will be discussed in detail in the following section.

Cognitive Theory of Multimedia Learning

The cognitive theory of multimedia learning that I used to frame the research entails that the "human information-processing system includes dual channels for visual/pictorial and auditory/verbal processing, each channel has limited capacity for processing, and active learning entails carrying out appropriate cognitive processing during learning" (Mayer, 2009, p. 57). I used this theory to frame my research because blended learning using the rotation model includes the use of multimedia for the online part of instruction. Blended learning using the rotation model may assist in providing dual processing, aid with limited capacity, and provide opportunity for active processing.

Dual processing is described as how the brain processes information from both visual images and verbal stimuli. When a student can process information using both types of instruction, learned information is more likely to be processed into their long-term memory. Visual stimuli are first processed through the eyes and can be presented as images or printed words. Auditory stimuli are received from someone else presenting information. Learning is enhanced when the student is offered both visual and auditory stimuli that complement each other (Mayer, 2009).

Two main principles of the cognitive theory of multimedia learning include pretraining, and lesson segmentation. During pretraining, the teacher presents scaffolded information for the students to understand instruction before the lesson is presented. When a teacher segments a lesson, they break the instruction into smaller sections where students can control the pace of the learning. These two ideologies, pretraining, and lesson segmentation, shelter the student from cognitive overload (Mayer, 2009). The modality principle is defined as how students can retain more information "from pictures and spoken words than from pictures and printed words" (Mayer, 2009, p. 200).

Schuler, Scheiter, and van Genuchten (2011) said that using the multimedia learning theory for educational research is fitting if researchers explain why this theory is of interest. Blended learning was examined in the included research studies and is reinforced by Mayer's theory of multimedia learning (2009). Additionally, Kennedy, Thomas, Meyer, Alves, and Lloyd (2014) said that general and special education high school social studies students who participated in content acquisition podcast (CAPs) lessons significantly outperformed the students who received instruction through textbased lessons on the weekly checks and on the posttest.

The cognitive theory of multimedia learning was used to frame my study because it may support the concept of blended learning using the rotation model. The rotation model of blended learning that was implemented during mathematics by selected central Indiana teachers has students rotate on a fixed schedule or at the teacher's discretion between learning modalities, and at least one rotation involves online learning. The online portion of student mathematics instruction allows for dual processing of information, limited capacity, and active processing. Students are given the opportunity to be active participants in their learning by completing online instruction at their own pace. They can take part in dual processing using interactive videos, visual text, read aloud text, and interactive curriculum. They can also personalize the pace of lessons by controlling information during assigned online time. Students can do this by having the choice to redo lessons or move forward to the next lesson at a personalized pace once they have demonstrated mastery. In addition, students can be active participants in their learning by integrating information as they complete online lessons and thus are able to gain knowledge regarding learned lessons so there are no gaps in their learning. The cognitive theory of multimedia learning also supports segmentation of lessons. When a

teacher segments a lesson, they break the entire lesson into small sections of instruction where the students can control the pace. Classrooms from selected central Indiana schools that are using blended learning and rotation model are segmenting lessons throughout mathematics instructional time.

Literature Review Related to Key Variables

Defining Blended Learning

Generally, blended learning is a combination of face-to-face learning and online learning. Banyen et al. (2016) defined blended learning as an instructional practice that combines face-to-face and online educational delivery of instruction. Prescott et al. (2018) described blended learning as a practice where students can control the pace and location of their learning. Means, Bakia, and Murphy (2014) stated that blended learning generally provides at least 30% of online instruction and at least 21% of face-to-face instruction. Mahalli, Nurkamto, Mujiyanto, and Yuliasri (2019) said that blended learning allows students to learn individually at their own pace.

There are a variety of blended learning models. The Clayton Christensen Institute (2019) recognized four categories of blended learning: (a) rotation, (b) flex, (c) a la carte, and (d) enriched virtual model. The rotation model focuses on students rotating between learning modalities that include at least one online learning activity. In the flex model, online learning is where most of the student learning occurs. Students work at their own pace through the curriculum and teachers provide support when needed. For the a la carte model, students take a course entirely online combined with receiving instruction in other courses a brick-and-mortar setting. Finally, the enriched virtual model allows

students to work online at their own pace, with scheduled face-to-face meetings with their instructor.

In this study I focused on blended learning using the rotation model. The students who participate in the blended learning using the rotation model environment are provided with self-paced instruction that includes online activities. During the face-toface instruction, the students are grouped according to data collected from the NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment. These data allow the teacher to provide students with direct instruction that targets the students' learning needs.

Research on Blended Learning

Effectiveness. Blended learning may have the potential to improve student achievement in mathematics (Angelone, 2019). Several researchers found evidence that students who use blended learning in the classroom have shown an increase in learning achievement (Baranova, Khalyapina, Kobicheva, & Tokareva, 2019; Boninger, Molnar, & University of Colorado at Boulder, 2019; D'addato & Miller, 2016; Fazal & Bryant, 2019; Harris et al., 2016; Minicozzi, 2018; Misfeldt & Zacho, 2016; Seage & Türegün, 2020; Shechtman, Roschelle, Feng, & Singleton, 2019). Although researchers have studied the effect of blended learning, there still is a lack of research on its effectiveness (Dziuban et al., 2016; Shechtman, Roschelle, Feng, & Singleton, 2019).

In designing this study, I used research that has been conducted in various blended learning environments. After reviewing this literature, I was able to develop the problem and purpose statements for my study. Misfeldt and Zacho (2016) stated that selected Denmark third grade teachers that included technology into their mathematics classroom self-reported an increased competence of using this assessment, and students reported that they were able to increase their understanding of mathematics. This resource provided information for this study on the effects of blended learning and how incorporating technology can improve the learning experience for students.

Minicozzi (2018) provided participating teachers with iPads and digital curriculum to assist them in better meeting the needs of K-2 students. Minicozzi used a case study approach using two surveys to better understand by quantitative methods how teachers have been trained to use technology in the classroom. In the qualitative portion of the study, Minicozzi et al. used focus group interviews to explore how teachers used the iPad to better meet the learning needs of K-2 students. Minicozzi found that there is a need for embedded technology integration throughout teacher preparation coursework to better prepare K-2 teachers and that with appropriate training, teachers can effectively integrate iPads into lessons which benefit student learning. Similarly, Harris, Al-Bataineh, and Al-Bataineh (2016) analyzed whether one-to-one technology had an impact on student achievement and motivation. Harris et al. included fourth-grade participants from two different classrooms in a Title 1 elementary school. Harris et al. gathered data through the Pearson enVision Math series with topic tests, Discovery Education assessment results, and attendance records. They found that one-to-one technology could be a factor in student academic achievement and motivation to learn. Their findings are important because many schools are using the instructional practice of blended learning.

Lin, Tseng, and Chiang (2017) examined the effects of blended learning on junior high students' learning achievement and students' attitude toward mathematics. The authors included 54 seventh-grade students for 8 months; one group was a control group that received traditional teaching methods of whole class teaching, while one group was the experimental group that was exposed to blended learning with the use of videos, guided questions, and the use of Moodle. The authors used a pre and posttest to measure student achievement. The results were measured by ANCOVA and MANCOVA analyses demonstrated that the experimental group showed statistically higher achievement scores on the mathematics posttest. The authors found that the results supported that the use of blended learning in the mathematics classrooms showed a significant positive effect on student academic achievement.

Teacher perceptions. The effectiveness of blended learning may be impacted by teacher perceptions and attitudes. Anderson, Boaler, and Dieckmann (2018) discussed how making educational reforms may be difficult because many teachers continue to use previous teaching methods even after participating in professional development regarding new methods. The level of comfort a teacher has with blended learning using the rotation model may influence how this instructional practice is integrated into the classroom (Bicer & Capraro, 2017; Yaghmour, 2016). Anderson et al. (2018) examined how teacher beliefs on new instructional practices can impact the effectiveness of implementation. The authors conducted a mixed-methods study using 40 teachers from eight different school districts. Anderson et al. used observations of lessons, teacher reflections, interviews, and student increase in achievement to provide data for the study. Anderson et al. found that a change in teacher mindset regarding new instructional techniques was important for the selected mathematics teachers to make a change in
instruction. To make educational reforms successful, teachers need to be willing to make instructional changes in their mathematics classrooms. This can directly impact student achievement (Anderson et al. 2018).

Generalizability. Blended learning research has largely been focused on the postsecondary education level where blended learning has been accepted more quickly to accommodate the need for flexibility in time and location of instruction (McGee & Reis, 2012). Because there is a lack of standardized definitions for blended learning, it remains unclear how many students are participating in blended learning at any level (Dziuban, Picciano, Graham, & Moskal, 2016). Thus, the generalizability of the reviewed research studies is uncertain because most data that have been collected are from postsecondary education. There are limited data that examine the effect of blended learning at the K-12 level. Most researchers who have examined blended learning specifically related to K-12 students, indicate that blended learning may be an effective practice in increasing academic achievement (Agosto et al., 2013; Brown, 2015; Chee, L., Jalil, H., Ma'rof, A. & Saad, W. 2020; Dziuban et al., 2016; Eyyam et al., 2014; Lin et al., 2017). Many researchers that have studied blended learning state that there is a need for further research to examine the effectiveness of blended learning on student achievement (Anderson et al, 2018; Bicer & Capraro, 2017; Liachovitzky & Wolf, 2019; Lin, Tseng, & Chiang, 2017; Yaghmour, 2016).

The gap in research reviewed suggests a need to know what specific types of blended learning are most effective. Most of the research on the effect of blended learning pertains to the postsecondary or secondary level and further research should be conducted at the elementary level. I used a quasi-experimental design, and I conducted an independent sample *t* test to analyze the data from the nonequivalent groups. I investigated the effect of blended learning using the rotation model on fourth and fifth grade students' achievement in mathematics.

Blended Learning Implementation at Study School Site

Blended learning using the rotation model as implemented by selected central Indiana schools allows students to personalize their learning through online and face-toface instruction. Throughout the online portion of mathematics instruction, students participate in self-paced lessons that provide instructional videos, interactive practice, and assessment. This online instruction enables students to individually remediate, reinforce, or enrich their learning skills at their own pace, as supported by the cognitive theory of multimedia learning.

During the face-to-face portion of the rotation model of blended learning, the selected central Indiana schools used the assessment data gathered from the online portion to plan differentiated learning instruction for small groups. Students were grouped together using this data to develop lessons that met individual learning needs. During one rotation, these groups met with the teacher to receive face-to-face instruction that was targeted to their learning needs.

Table 1

Time Allotment for Instruction

Traditional Model of Mathematics

45-minute whole group lesson

Rotation Model of Mathematics

10-minute whole group mini lesson (table continues)

introducing grade level mathematics	introducir
standard and objective for learning	standard
10-minute whole group practice	45-minute
of grade level standard	students pa
	partner 1
	instru

5-minute whole group review of objective and grade level standard

introducing grade level mathematics standard and objective for learning 45-minute rotation of stations where students participate in online learning, partner learning, and face-to-face instruction with the teacher 5-minute whole group review of objective and grade level standard

Summary

In this literature review I identified that there is a limited amount of published research on the effect of blended learning using the rotation model at the elementary level. I also revealed that many research studies on blended learning focus on defining this practice or focused on the secondary level. Due to the lack of consensus on the definition of blended learning, the research lacks generalizability and is less significant. In this chapter, I also included peer-reviewed articles where researchers defined blended learning and examined the effect of this practice on student achievement. In the literature review, I located research that did not provide evidence that the implementation of blended learning was effective, and authors suggested further research.

The cognitive theory of multimedia learning may provide evidence as to how using the rotation model may be an effective model of blended learning (Mayer, 2014). Blended learning using the rotation model as implemented by the three selected central Indiana teachers allows students to personalize their learning through online and face-toface instruction. Throughout the online portion of mathematics instruction, students participate in self-paced lessons that provide instructional videos, interactive practice, and assessment. This theory supports that using the rotation model may assist in providing dual processing, aid with limited capacity, and provide opportunities for active processing which can help improve student achievement.

In Chapter 3, I discuss the methods used to examine the effect of blended learning using the rotation model on fourth and fifth grade students' mathematics achievement. I identify the specific population that was included in my study and describe sampling procedures and data collection. This study was developed to examine the effect of blended learning using the rotation model on fourth and fifth grade students' achievement in mathematics and address the gap in literature pertaining to the effect of blended learning using the rotation model in fourth and fifth grade mathematics classrooms.

Chapter 3: Research Method

Introduction

The purpose of this study was to determine the effect of blended learning using the rotation model on fourth and fifth grade students' achievement in mathematics as measured by the NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment by comparing the scores of students who use a blended learning model in the classroom to the scores of their peers who do not. In this chapter, I include a discussion regarding the methodology of this study. I also discuss information regarding the specific population that was used in this study, sampling procedures, data collection, instrumentation and operationalization constructs, threats to validity, ethical procedures, and a summary.

Research Design and Rationale

The research design of this study is quantitative. In this study, I investigated the effect of blended learning using the rotation model on fourth and fifth grade students' achievements in mathematics. The independent variable in this study was the type of instruction, either blended learning using the rotation model or traditional learning. The dependent variable was NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores of selected fourth and fifth grade students.

I used a quasi-experimental approach and conducted an independent samples *t* test to analyze data from nonequivalent groups: students who are receiving instruction in mathematics through blended learning using the rotation model and students in the traditional setting. There are differences between the two groups. Some of these differences could involve learning ability, attendance, and behavior of students. Selected central Indiana schools began implementing blended learning using station rotation in 2016. Selected central Indiana fourth and fifth grade teachers received professional development beginning in 2016, and this training has been ongoing for the past 4 years. The selected central Indiana fourth and fifth grade teachers use data from the NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment to make instructional decisions for students. Students are placed in classrooms based on assessment data, behaviors, and specific learning needs. School administrators create mathematics classes that are balanced so that teachers and principals can compare the NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment growth data between the two groups: blended learning using the rotation model, and traditional. This allows the school administrators and teachers to analyze the assessment growth scores of students who are participating in blended learning using the rotation model during mathematics compared with students who are participating in the traditional model during mathematics.

Methodology

In this section, I include information regarding the study population, sampling procedures, data collection, and instrumentation and operationalization of constructs. The study population was collected from three selected central Indiana elementary schools. The data retrieved was archival assessment growth data from the NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment pre and posttest scores. To gather this archival data, permission was requested from the three selected principals from the three different selected schools. Since this study used deidentified archival data, individual recruitment and permissions were not necessary.

Population

In this study, the population was fourth and fifth grade students from three selected central Indiana elementary schools. The current total population includes 282 fourth grade students and 301 fifth grade students. The demographic of the current population is 81.2% White, 6.4% Black, 5.8% multiracial, 5.2% Hispanic, 1.1% Asian, 0.2% American Indian, and 0.1% Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander.

Sampling and Sampling Procedures

For this study I used a total of 300 participants: 150 fourth graders and 150 fifth graders. The reason for selecting this number of participants was so that I could account for any students who moved out of the classroom, resulting in skewed results. According to G*Power software, the minimum number of participants for this quantitative study to be reliable was 176 students. By including 300 participants, I hoped to find reliable data that could add to research regarding blended learning at the elementary level. I examined if there were differences between student mathematics achievement scores depending on the type of instruction that the students participate in for 16 weeks. There was one independent variable with two identified groups (blended learning using the rotation model and traditional instruction). This study used one dependent variable (NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores). I conducted an independent sample *t* test to analyze data from nonequivalent groups.

G*Power software was used to identify the appropriate sample size for this study. This software was chosen because it helped identify the minimum required participants needed in this study to detect statistical differences between the two groups. G*Power software was set to run an independent *t* test and a means statistical test that shows differences between the two independent groups. The effect size was set at 0.5, the error probability was set to 0.05, and power was set at .95. Power is a measurement to ensure that if I reject the null hypothesis, it is done correctly (see Appendix A).

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

Recruitment for this study was conducted through email. I sent emails to three principals at selected central Indiana schools. Emails were sent with a read receipt attached so I could monitor the process of correspondence. Emails included a request for schools to participate in my study. Principals were asked to provide information regarding the type of instruction that the fourth and fifth grade classroom teachers were using and the NWEA Map Growth Mathematics fourth and fifth grade students pre and posttest scores from the beginning (August 2019) to the middle (December 2019) of the school year. Principals were also asked to complete a survey that identified if teachers taught fourth or fifth grade, and what type of instruction was used during mathematics Principals were asked to respond to the initial email to provide informed consent that they were willing to provide archival data from the NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment and complete the survey. Once I received approval from Walden University to gather the data, a second email with a read receipt was sent to three selected central Indiana principals. These emails included the survey and a Microsoft Excel document to add student archival data from the NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment for the 2019-2020 school year. Principals were asked to complete this information and return it to me by a specific date. In this study, I used gathered archival student data to determine

the effect of blended learning using the rotation model on fourth and fifth grade students' achievement in mathematics.

Once I received information from all three selected central Indiana schools, I analyzed data and survey responses. If I did not receive a response from all three principals, a follow-up call was completed to remind them to submit data to me. Once I completed the study and had an approved dissertation from Walden University, I offered a scheduled meeting with principals to review findings of my study. This meeting was optional and scheduled at a mutually agreed upon place and date.

Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs

For this study, I used deidentified student pre and posttest data from the NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment. The NWEA was developed in 1980 to measure growth and proficiency of student learning so that teachers can develop instruction to meet the learning needs of each student. The NWEA (2019) reported that this instrument is used in more than 9,500 school districts in the United States, as well as education agencies in 145 countries. Selected central Indiana schools have been using the NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment since 2014. This instrument was appropriate to use in my study since it measures mathematics skills. When looking at student growth from the beginning to the middle of the year, this report identifies student growth norms for each grade level. For fourth grade, the mean growth is 6.8 points with a standard deviation of 5.05. The mean growth for fifth grade is 5.8 points with a standard deviation of 5.22 (NWEA, 2019). Pre and post assessment data were used in the deidentified format. This data were used to analyze if students in the blended learning class are showing more growth than students in the traditional setting. Because I used archival data, permission from the developer was not required for this study.

I also used a descriptive survey to collect demographic data regarding the fourth and fifth grade classroom teachers that were included in the study. An example of the information that was gathered included if the teacher was using blended learning with the rotation model during mathematics instruction. The three selected principals answered questions on this survey to indicate the number of years that the teachers have been teaching in the current setting. This survey was sent to the three selected central Indiana principals through email and a follow up call was made when necessary. Since I developed the survey, permission was not needed.

Data Analysis Plan

Deidentified archival student data was received from the selected central Indiana schools using Microsoft Excel. Once this data were gathered from selected Central Indiana schools, I used SPSS Version 25 to analyze deidentified student data To ensure the data gathered from the selected schools were valid, I screened the data for errors and duplications. I sent the selected central Indiana schools the same Excel spreadsheet for principals to add deidentified archival student data. The principals used this spreadsheet to identify the specific data they should include from the NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment reports. This ensured the collected data were identical from each school.

Research Question

RQ: Is there a statistically significant difference in terms of NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores of fourth and fifth grade students who participate for 16 weeks in blended learning using the rotation model and those in the traditional classroom?

 H_0 : There is no statistically significant difference in terms of NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores of fourth and fifth grade students who participate for 16 weeks in blended learning using the rotation model and those in the traditional classroom.

 H_a : There is a statistically significant difference in terms of NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores of fourth and fifth grade students who participate for 16 weeks in blended learning using the rotation model and those in the traditional classroom.

Testing of the Hypotheses

The hypotheses were tested by analyzing the t statistic and p-value from the data used to conduct the independent t test. I used the t statistic to determine if I would accept or reject the null hypothesis. The p-value identified the significance of the results of this study. I used the data to identify if there were significant differences in terms of NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores between fourth and fifth grade students who participate for 16 weeks in blended learning using the rotation model and students who stayed in the traditional classroom.

Additional Exploratory Analyses and Supplemental Comparisons

The independent variable was the type of instruction used by the teacher, to include blended learning or traditional learning, and the dependent variable is the NWEA

Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores. Deidentified archival student data was received from selected central Indiana principals using Microsoft Excel. I used SPSS Version 25 to analyze variables and data. To test assumptions of homogeneity of variance, I used Levene's test of equality of variances in SPSS statistics when I ran the independent *t* test on the data from selected central Indiana schools. I used this test to determine if the population variances were equal (Warner, 2013). This test for homogeneity of variance delivered a significance value (*p*-value). If the result of this test is greater than 0.05, the group variances can be treated as equal. However, if the results of this test are less than 0.05, the group has unequal variances, and this violates the assumption of homogeneity of variances.

Threats to Validity

When research is conducted, there are internal and external threats to validity. It is important to identify possible threats and attempt to decrease the threats while maintaining the feasibility of the study. I have identified two possible internal threats to this study. The first internal threat that is being considered is attrition. Attrition can occur when data is collected from different points of time (Miller & Hollist, 2007). Once the data from the selected central Indiana schools is received, there may not be identical data collected from the NWEA Map Growth Mathematics student scores from pre to posttest if participants drop out from either learning environment. To address this threat, I screened this data and equated the data from the pre and posttest. The second internal threat is selection. As the researcher, I did not randomly assign students who would participate in blended learning using the rotation model or students who would participate in the traditional classroom. Therefore, participant selection may be a possible internal threat. To minimize these two internal threats, students' assessment data that does not have a pre and posttest score were not included in the analysis.

The external threat that was identified in this study is selection bias. Selection bias is a threat because I limited my study to one specific subject. In this study, I focused only on the subject area of mathematics. The purpose was to determine the effect of blended learning using the rotation model on fourth and fifth grade students' achievement in mathematics, thus prohibiting generalizability to other academic areas. The dependent variable data were NWEA MAP Growth Mathematics assessment scores. NWEA has provided each school with reference charts that display normative data that shows the expected growth at each grade level. For fourth grade, the mean growth is 6.8 points with a standard deviation of 5.05. The mean growth for fifth grade is 5.8 points with a standard deviation of 5.22.

Ethical Procedures

Data Collection

This study used archival data gathered from the selected central Indiana schools. Having access to archival data that is SPSS ready was a key factor for this study. Permission to conduct the study was obtained from the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) (06-12-20-0721472) and selected school administrators (see Appendix B). There was not a plan to conduct an exit procedure or have any additional follow-up with the participants because I used archival data. Since the data for this study were collected as archival data, there was no need to contact the participants.

Risks

Archival data was used in this study, so there were not any legal or psychological conflicts. I developed a letter of cooperation that was given to selected central Indiana schools prior to gathering data. This letter contained the purpose of the study and how data were used, with the intent of eliminating potential legal issues.

Role of the Researcher

This study involves data from selected central Indiana schools where I was previously employed. When the study was completed, I was no longer employed at these selected schools. My role in this study was to contact principals from three selected central Indiana schools, gather data for this study, and analyze these data to determine the effect of blended learning on fourth and fifth grade students' mathematics achievement.

Treatment of Data

In this study, the data used was deidentified. This data was received from the selected school's administrative staff. I have protected this data without any identifiers. The deidentified data will be securely stored for 5 years.

Summary

In this chapter, I have discussed the research design, methodology, instrumentation and operationalization of constructs, threats to validity, and ethical procedures. I have provided information regarding how this study will be designed to determine if there are significant differences in terms of NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores of students who use a blended learning using the rotation model in the classroom compared to their peers who do not use this model. For this study I used a quasi-experimental approach and conducted an independent sample *t* test to analyze data from nonequivalent groups. In Chapter 4, I provide information on data collection as well as results from this study.

Chapter 4: Results

This study was developed to examine the effect of blended learning using the rotation model on fourth and fifth grade students' achievement in mathematics to fill the gap in research on this topic. In this quantitative study, I used data from the NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment collected from three selected central Indiana elementary school principals. I conducted this study to determine if there were statistical differences between NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores of fourth and fifth grade students who participated for 16 weeks in blended learning using the rotation model and those in the traditional classroom. Mayer's cognitive theory of multimedia learning was used to guide this study.

The following research question and hypotheses guided this study:

RQ: Is there a statistically significant difference in terms of NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores of fourth and fifth grade students who participate for 16 weeks in blended learning using the rotation model and those in the traditional classroom?

 H_0 : There is no statistically significant difference in terms of NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores of fourth and fifth grade students who participate for 16 weeks in blended learning using the rotation model and those in the traditional classroom.

 H_a : There is a statistically significant difference in terms of NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores of fourth and fifth grade students who participate for 16 weeks in blended learning using the rotation model and those in the traditional classroom.

In this chapter, I provide information on data collection for this study, describe the recruitment process, outline the timeframe for collecting data, and present descriptive characteristics of the sample. Results from the study are discussed and tables that display resulting data are shared. Finally, the chapter is concluded with a summary that includes answers to the research question and an introduction to Chapter 5.

Data Collection

Timeframe and Recruitment

I received approval to collect data for this study from the Walden University IRB on June 12, 2020. The IRB approval number for this study is 06-12-20-0721472. Upon receiving approval from the IRB, invitation emails were sent to three selected central Indiana school principals along with a read receipt on June 13, 2020. This invitation email included an explanation of the purpose of the study, directions for completing the survey, and information for returning deidentified NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment data (see Appendix C). On June 15th, 2020, I received survey responses and deidentified student data from two of the three principals. A follow-up call was made on June 17, 2020 to the principal who had not returned data. This principal followed up on June 18, 2020 with the completed survey and deidentified student data. This study had a 100% response rate from the three selected principals.

Baseline Demographics

After collecting deidentified student data, I had a total of 590 deidentified student assessments. When planning for this study, I had stated that there would be 300

deidentified student assessments to analyze. I decided to use all 590 returned deidentified student assessment scores so that the statistical power for this study would increase.

The population for this study was fourth and fifth grade students from three selected central Indiana elementary schools. The current total population of students in these three schools was 313 fourth grade students and 277 fifth grade students. The demographic of this population was 81.2% White, 6.4% Black, 5.8% multiracial, 5.2% Hispanic, 1.1% Asian, 0.2% American Indian, and 0.1% Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander.

I used a purposive sampling strategy for this study. According to Amin, Utaya, Bachri, Sumarmi, and Susilo (2020), this type of sampling allows researchers to provide a sample that is representative of the population. All 590 deidentified assessment scores were included in this study to ensure the sample group was proportionate to the three selected central Indiana student population.

The deidentified sample of fourth graders consisted of 313 students. This included 225 students who participated in blended learning using station rotation and 88 students who stayed in a traditional setting. The survey results completed by the three selected principals (see Appendix D) identified that there was a total of 16 fourth grade teachers. Principals had to identify the type of instruction that each teacher used during mathematics instruction. The survey included definitions of blended learning using the rotation model and the traditional classroom. Blended learning using the rotation model was defined as: Students rotate on a fixed schedule or at the teacher's discretion between learning modalities, and at least one rotation involves online learning. The traditional teaching model was defined as: Teachers provide instruction in a whole group setting for introducing grade level mathematics standards and objectives for learning, instruction, and practice. Blended learning using the rotation model was coded as 1, and the traditional teaching model was coded as 2. There was a total of 11 fourth grade teachers who were identified as using blended learning with the rotation model during mathematics instruction. The three selected principals stated that there was a total of 5 fourth grade teachers who provided instruction in the traditional setting. There were 10 students from the blended learning using the rotation model group and eight traditional model students who were missing assessment scores. To control for the internal threat of attrition, I did not include these students' assessment data in the analysis.

The deidentified sample of fifth graders consisted of 277 students. This included 200 students who participated in blended learning using station rotation and 77 students who stayed in a traditional setting. The three selected principals identified that there were 13 fifth grade teachers. There was a total of eight fifth grade teachers who were identified as using blended learning with the rotation model during mathematics instruction and five fifth grade teachers who provided instruction in the traditional setting. There were nine students using the rotation model group and seven traditional model students who were missing assessment scores. Once again, these students' assessment data were not included in the analysis to control for the internal threat of attrition.

Study Results

In this study, the data analysis plan included the use of an independent t test to test my hypothesis. Researchers use an independent t test to test statistical differences between means. I analyzed NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores from 590 participants to address the research question. Descriptive statistics in Table 2 show that 72% of the students used blended learning using the rotation model compared to 28% of the students that participated in the traditional model. There was a difference of 258 students between students that participated in blended learning using the rotation model, and students that participated in the traditional model. The discrepancy between the planned sample size of 300 students and the actual sample size of 590 students was the result of student growth at the selected central Indiana schools. I decided to use all 590 returned, de-identified student assessment scores so that the statistical power for this study would increase. The selected central Indiana principals provided the requested deidentified student data from the 2019–2020 school year for their current enrollment of fourth and fifth grade students. I completed the data collection plan that was presented in Chapter 3 without any other discrepancies.

Table 2

	1			Standard
Groups	Ν	М	SD	Error Mean
Traditional	166	6.30	6.712	.521

424

6.26

NWEA Growth Mathematics Scores Group Statistics

Blended learning

.521

.306

6.304

In this study, I used an independent *t* test. To check the fulfillment of requirement for this analysis I had to examine the equality of variance and the normal distribution of variables. To examine the equality of variance, I used the Levene's test for equality of variances in the SPSS output. In the SPSS output, I was provided with an equal variance assumed, and an equal variance not assumed. The Levene test was used in this study to determine which data to report. The normal distribution of variables is important to review because to use an independent t test the dependent variable, NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores, should be normally distributed between both groups.

Using SPSS Version 25, I conducted an independent *t* test. The output from the Levene's test for equality of variances showed a *F* value of .139 and p = .710. These data were analyzed to determine if there were any variances within the samples. I assumed that the variances are approximately equal and that the mean scores between the group are not statistically significant. The *p* value of .710 is well above the conventional threshold of 0.05. This indicated there was no evidence to reject the null hypothesis of the Levene test. The results from the independent *t* test are presented in Table 3.

Table 3

		Treatment	
		Equal variances assumed	
<i>t</i> test for equality of	Т	.067	
means	Df	588	
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.947	
	Mean difference	.039	
	Std. error difference	.588	

The NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment mean growth scores for the students in the blended learning using station rotation (M = 6.26, SD = 6.30 and the students in the traditional model (M = 6.30, SD = 6.71) conditions t (588) = .07, p = .947 displays data that supports the failure to reject the null hypothesis. In this study, N represents the total number of NWEA Map Growth Assessment scores for both groups (N = 588). There is no statistically significant difference in NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores of fourth and fifth grade students who participated for 16 weeks in blended learning using the rotation model and students who were in the traditional classroom.

In this study, I reported that there was not a significant effect, so there is not a need to calculate the size of the effect. If I were to calculate the effect, I would have used an online statistics calculator. The effect size would have been found by dividing the mean difference by the standard deviation. To find the effect size, I entered both groups' means, standard deviations, and number of participants per group into this calculator. The Cohen's d = (6.26-6.3)/6.511197 = 0.006143, which is a very small effect size. Since the groups do not differ by at least 0.2 standard deviations, the difference is insignificant. When analyzing the confidence interval, the lower limit was -1.115 and the upper limit was 1.194. This data supported the failure to reject the null hypothesis.

Summary

The purpose of this quantitative study was to determine the effect of blended learning using the rotation model on fourth and fifth grade students' NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores. In this study, I used a quasi-experimental approach and conducted an independent samples *t* test to analyze data from nonequivalent groups: 424 students that received instruction in mathematics through blended learning using the rotation model and 166 students in the traditional setting. Amin et al. (2020) stated that when the researcher cannot control all external variables, using a quasi-experimental approach is appropriate. The results from the independent *t* test (i.e., students in the blended learning using the rotation model [M = 6.26, SD = 6.30] and the students in the traditional model [M = 6.30, SD = 6.71] conditions *t* (588) = .07, *p* = .947) supported the failure to reject the null hypothesis. There is no statistically significant difference in NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores of fourth and fifth grade students who participated for 16 weeks in blended learning using the rotation model and students who are in the traditional classroom.

The goal for this study was to provide data to address a gap in the literature on blended learning at the elementary level and help school administrators make decisions on allocating educational funds for implementing blended learning using the rotation model into the mathematics classroom. In Chapter 5, I will interpret the findings of the study, discuss the limitations, describe recommendations for further research, and identify implications for potential positive social change. Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

This quantitative study involved determining the effect of blended learning using the rotation model on fourth and fifth grade students' NWEA Map Growth Mathematics Assessment scores. For this study, I used deidentified student data from the NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment. Hypotheses were tested by analyzing the t statistic and p-values from data used to conduct the independent t test. This quantitative study showed there were no statistically significant differences in terms of NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores between fourth and fifth grade students who participated for 16 weeks in blended learning using the rotation model and those who participated in the traditional classroom.

This study provided insight into how blended learning using the rotation model affects selected central Indiana fourth and fifth grade students' mathematics scores. I worked to present original research and empirical data so that selected central Indiana elementary administrators can determine if allocating funds and professional development resources to implement blended learning using the rotation model into the elementary classroom is a meaningful practice. This chapter will include a summary of my study, interpretation of findings, limitation of the study, recommendations for further studies, and information regarding potential for positive social change.

Interpretation of Findings

The results of this quantitative study showed there were not statistically significant differences in terms of NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores between fourth and fifth grade students who participated for 16 weeks in blended learning using the rotation model and those who were in the traditional classroom. These results did not align with part of the research discussed in Chapter 2. Several research studies reviewed in Chapter 2 supported that blended learning was an effective instructional practice for improving student achievement (Angelone, 2019; Baranova, Khalyapina, Kobicheva, & Tokareva, 2019; D'addato & Miller, 2016; Fazal & Bryant, 2019; Harris et al., 2016; Minicozzi, 2018; Misfeldt & Zacho, 2016; Seage & Türegün, 2020; Shechtman, Roschelle, Feng, & Singleton, 2019). The findings from my study showed there was not a significant difference in terms of NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores of fourth and fifth grade students who participated for 16 weeks in blended learning using the rotation model and those in the traditional classroom. The findings from this study aligned with the research studies discussed in Chapter 2 that did not provide evidence that the implementation of blended learning was effective (Divayana, 2019; Shechtman, Roschelle, Feng, & Singleton, 2019; Ullman, 2017; Yaghmour, 2016). Also discussed in Chapter 2, there was a need for further research on the effect of blended learning on student achievement. According to the literature, researchers suggest that educators need to know what specific types of blended learning are the most effective (Dziuban et al., 2016; Shechtman, Roschelle, Feng, & Singleton, 2019). This study's results add to the research on the effect of blended learning using the rotation model at the elementary level. The results from this study can be used to help school administrators determine if blended learning using the rotation model should be used during mathematics instruction.

For this study, I used the cognitive theory of multimedia learning as the theoretical framework to investigate blended learning using the rotation model. Mayer (2009, 2014) explained that the cognitive theory of multimedia learning may support blended learning using the rotation model because it may assist teachers in providing dual processing, auditory and visual, allowing teachers to aid with limited capacity, and provide a student the opportunity for active processing. The cognitive theory of multimedia learning supported part of the literature in Chapter 2, whose results showed that blended learning was an effective instructional method in mathematics (Angelone, 2019; Fazal & Bryant, 2019; Minicozzi, 2018). In this study, I developed one research question and corresponding hypotheses and used an independent sample t test to analyze the data.

RQ: Is there a statistically significant difference in terms of NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores of fourth and fifth grade students who participate for 16 weeks in blended learning using the rotation model and those in the traditional classroom?

 H_0 : There is no statistically significant difference in terms of NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores of fourth and fifth grade students who participate for 16 weeks in blended learning using the rotation model and those in the traditional classroom.

 H_a : There is a statistically significant difference in terms of NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores of fourth and fifth grade students who participate for 16 weeks in blended learning using the rotation model and those in the traditional classroom.

The three selected central Indiana principals identified the type of instruction each fourth and fifth grade teacher provided during mathematics: blended learning using the rotation model or traditional. I used Mayer's cognitive theory of multimedia learning to frame my research because it revealed that blended learning using the rotation model may assist in providing dual processing, aid with limited capacity, and provide students an opportunity for active processing. The cognitive theory of multimedia learning was also used to help define blended learning using the rotation model so the principals could have a clear understanding of this model when they were choosing the type of instruction that the selected fourth and fifth grade teachers use during mathematics instruction.

Analyzing the results from the independent *t* test, I was able to answer the research question. The results from the independent *t* test, students in the blended learning using rotation model [M = 6.26, SD = 6.30] and the students in the traditional model [M = 6.30, SD = 6.71] conditions t (588) = .07, p = .947, supported the failure to reject the null hypothesis. I concluded there were no statistically significant differences in terms of NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores between fourth and fifth grade students who participated for 16 weeks in blended learning using the rotation model and those who were in the traditional classroom. Results from this study did not support the cognitive theory of multimedia learning because it did not support that there was a significant difference in fourth and fifth grade student's mathematics assessment scores who participated for 16 weeks in blended learning using the rotation model and those who were in the traditional classroom. Results from this study did not support the cognitive theory of multimedia learning because it did not support that there was a significant difference in fourth and fifth grade student's mathematics assessment scores who participated for 16 weeks in blended learning using the rotation model.

Limitations of the Study

In this study, I examined NWEA Map Growth Mathematics scores of fourth and fifth grade students in three suburban schools. This selection limited generalization to other grade levels. The results may only be representative of fourth and fifth grade students in a similar population. For this research study, I focused exclusively on the subject area of mathematics using the rotation model of blended learning. In this study, I identified two limitations. First, the quality of the information gathered may be influenced by how accurately the principals responded to the descriptive survey. Principals were asked to identify which type of instruction each fourth and fifth grade teacher used during mathematics instruction. The survey included definitions of blended learning using the rotation model and the traditional model to help principals accurately identify the type of instruction for each teacher so that this data is reliable. Follow up phone calls were conducted for participants who provided sparse answers or failed to respond to the initial survey. By following up with the participants, I was able to provide reliable data from the three selected principals to use in this study. Second, since the participants worked in a school corporation where professional development was provided weekly, and there was a priority placed on technology integration into the classroom, results may not apply to surrounding school corporations with limited technology and less focused professional development opportunities.

Recommendations

The findings of this study add to the research on the effect of blended learning using the rotation model on fourth and fifth grade students' mathematics achievement. The results from this study showed that there was not a significant difference in NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores of fourth and fifth grade students who participated for 16 weeks in blended learning using the rotation model and students who are in the traditional classroom. The first recommendation for future studies would include conducting additional research on fourth and fifth grade students in different population areas. The results of this study are only representative of fourth and fifth grade students in a suburban population. Further research should be conducted to analyze the effect of blended learning using the rotation model on fourth and fifth grade students from different environments, including participants from urban, suburban, and rural areas. The results of this study were limited to the subject area of mathematics. Additional research that examines the use of blended learning at the elementary level that includes other subject areas will add to the literature on the effects of blended learning (Prescott et al., 2018).

This study was conducted to examine the effects of blended learning using the rotation model using a quantitative approach. Further research could be performed utilizing a mixed-methods approach. This type of study would allow a researcher to include quantitative data and qualitative data. A mixed-methods design would enable researchers to examine the effect on blended learning on student mathematics achievement scores and students' perception of learning in mathematics. Another recommendation for using a mixed-methods analysis would be to use quantitative data to examine the effect on blended learning on student mathematics achievement scores and use qualitative data to observe teacher instructional practices within the two instructional

model and compare teacher perceptions. A mixed-methods design may provide a broader and more encompassing study.

Implications

Since 2016, 79% of the fourth and fifth grade teachers from the three selected central Indiana schools have started to use blended learning during mathematics instruction to meet their students' various learning needs. The results of this study indicated there was no significant difference in growth scores for students who received mathematics instruction in blended learning using the rotation model. After examining the results from this study, I have identified potential implications for social change at the organizational and individual levels.

At the organizational level, school leaders can use data from this study, and from other research studies to support if blended learning using the rotation model effectively improves student achievement. As school leaders are making decisions on how to allocate funds to improve instruction, using the results from this study may help support instructional goals and aid in choosing effective instructional methods. Although this study showed that there was not a significant difference in achievement between blended learning using the rotation model, and the traditional model classes, there are additional studies that have shown that blended learning has been more effective. Knowledge of the effect of blended learning on student achievement may support positive social change by helping school district leaders make informed decisions regarding how to increase students' performance in mathematics. The results of this study will be shared with the three selected principals so they may use the findings to determine if the use of blended learning is an effective model of instruction during mathematics instruction. The findings of this study can be used by these three selected principals as a data resource to monitor the effect of blended learning on students' mathematics assessment scores. If these three selected principals continue to have teachers that use blended learning with the rotation model, the results from this study can be the starting data and then they can continue to review the data from additional NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores over time.

A possible implication for positive social change at the individual level could be that if teachers understand why school administrators are making instructional changes, there may be more buy-in from teachers. Anderson et al. (2018) examined how teacher beliefs on new instructional practices can impact the effectiveness of implementation. If school administrators are reviewing research to make decisions on how to allocate funds and develop explicit purposes for implementing instructional models like blended learning using the rotation model, there may be buy-in from the teachers. This shift can create positive social change by empowering teachers to implement blended learning using the rotation model with fidelity to help meet the various learning needs of the selected fourth and fifth grade students. This can lead to improvements in student learning and ultimately to increased chances of academic success.

Blended learning using the rotation model may also help support positive social change by allowing teachers and students to develop appropriate relationships to build a positive classroom community. Blended learning using the rotation model enables teachers to interact with small groups of students instead of teaching to the whole group. Also, the students can be active participants in their learning by integrating information as they complete online lessons. Thus, they can gain knowledge of the learned lessons so that there are no learning gaps in their education. The cognitive theory of multimedia learning allows students to use prior knowledge for new learning through selection, filtering, organizing, and integrating information.

Educators are inundated with different types of instructional methods that claim to improve student learning. A recommendation for practice for school leaders and teachers is to continuously review and analyze research studies on instructional methods so that informed decisions regarding instruction can be made. This is an on-going practice because additional research studies will continue to be conducted on instructional methods such as blended learning using the rotation model.

Conclusions

In this study, I examined the effect of blended learning using the rotation model on fourth and fifth grade students' NWEA Map Growth Mathematics assessment scores The results indicated there was not a significant difference in assessment growth scores for the fourth and fifth grade students that received mathematics instruction in blended learning using the rotation model. According to the literature reviewed in this study, there are mixed results on the effect of blended learning using the rotation model on student achievement. There are studies that show blended learning is effective at improving student achievement (D'addato & Miller, 2016; Fazal & Bryant, 2019; Harris et al., 2016), and there are studies that report that blended learning does not show a significant difference, (Angelone, 2019; Fazal & Bryant, 2019; Minicozzi, 2018). This study provided evidence that there was not a significant difference in assessment growth scores for fourth and fifth grade students who received mathematics instruction in blended learning using the rotation model. The perpetual challenges for educators include meeting the various learning needs of students who are in their classrooms and being up to date on effective instructional models that best support student achievement. Since blended learning has continued to gain momentum and teachers are continuing to transform classrooms by moving away from traditional whole-class teaching, further research is needed on the effect of blended learning using the rotation model on student achievement in mathematics.

References

- Agosto, D. E., Copeland, A. J., & Zach, L. (2013). Testing the benefits of blended education: Using social technology to foster collaboration and knowledge sharing in face-to-face LIS courses. *Journal of Education for Library and Information Science*, 54(2), 94-107.
- Amin, S., Utaya, S., Bachri, S., Sumarmi, & Susilo, S. (2020). Effect of problem-based learning on critical thinking skills and environmental attitude. *Journal for the Education of Gifted Young Scientists*, 8(2), 743–755. doi:10.17478/jegys.650344
- Anderson, R. K., Boaler, J., & Dieckmann, J. A. (2018). Achieving elusive teacher change through challenging myths about learning: A blended approach. *Education Sciences*, 8. doi:10.3390/educsci8030098
- Angelone, L. (2019). Blended learning in the science classroom: An introduction to atoms and molecules. *Science Scope*, 43(4), 58–64. doi:10.2505/4/ss19_043_04_58
- Attard, C., & Northcote, M. (2011). Mathematics on the move: Using mobile technologies to support student learning (Part 1). *Australian Primary Mathematics Classroom, 16*(4), 29-31. Retrieved from http://www.aamt.edu.au/index.php/Webshop/Entire-catalogue/Australian-Primary-Mathematics-Classroom

Banyen, W., Viriyavejakul, C., & Ratanaolarn, T. (2016). A blended learning model for learning achievement enhancement of Thai undergraduate students. *International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Learning*, *11*(4), 48-55. doi:10.3991/ijet.v11i04.5325

Baranova, T., Khalyapina, L., Kobicheva, A., Tokareva, E. (2019). Evaluation of students' engagement in integrated learning model in a blended environment. *Education Sciences*, 9(2), 138-150. doi:10.3390/educsci9020138

- Barrett, S. K., Arnett, T., Clayton Christensen Institute for Disruptive Innovation, &
 Public Impact. (2018). Innovative staffing to personalize learning: How new
 teaching roles and blended learning help students succeed. *Clayton Christensen Institute for Disruptive Innovation*. Retrieved from
 https://www.christenseninstitute.org/publications/staffing/
- Bhagat, K. K., Chang, C.-N., & Chang, C.-Y. (2016). The impact of the flipped classroom on mathematics concept learning in high school. *Educational Technology & Society*, 19(3), 134–142. Retrieved from http://www.ifets.info/journals/19_3/13.pdf
- Bicer, A., & Capraro, R. M. (2017). Longitudinal effects of technology integration and teacher professional development on students' mathematics achievement. *Eurasia Journal of Mathematics Science and Technology*, *13*(3), 815-833.
 doi:10.12973/eurasia.2017.00645a

Boninger, F., Molnar, A., Saldaña, C. M., & University of Colorado at Boulder, N. E. P.
C. (2019). Personalized learning and the digital privatization of curriculum and teaching. *National Education Policy Center*. National Education Policy Center.
Retrieved from https://nepc.colorado.edu/sites/default/files/publications/RB%20Personalized%20

Learning%20Exec%20Summary.pdf

- Bonk, C. J., & Graham, C. R. (2013). *Handbook of blended learning: Global perspectives, local designs*. San Francisco, CA: Pfeiffer.
- Brown, D. (2015). From sage on the stage to mobile and engaged. *Library Technology Reports*, 51(7), 21-36. Retrieved from https://www.journals.ala.org/index.php/ltr/article/view/5829
- Carr, J. M. (2012). Does math achievement "h'APP'en" when iPads and game-based learning are incorporated into fifth-grade mathematics instruction? *Journal of Information Technology Education: Research*, 11, 269-286. doi:10.28945/1725
- Chandler, T., Park, Y. S., Levin, K. L., & Morse, S. S. (2013). The incorporation of hands-on tasks in an online course: An analysis of a blended learning environment. *Interactive Learning Environments*, 21, 456–468. doi:10.1080/10494820.2011.593524

Chen, W. F. (2012). An investigation of varied types of blended learning environments on student achievement: An experimental study. *International Journal of Instructional Media*, 39(3), 205–212. Retrieved from https://www.questia.com/library/journal/1G1-298171659/an-investigation-of-
varied-types-of-blended-learning

- Clayton Christensen Institute. (2019). Blended learning. Retrieved from https://www.christenseninstitute.org/blended-learning/
- D'addato, T., & Miller, L. R. (2016). An inquiry into flipped learning in fourth grade math instruction. *Canadian Journal of Action Research*, *17*(2), 33–55. Retrieved from https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/An-Inquiry-into-Flipped-Learningin-Fourth-Grade
- Delacre, M., Lakens, D., & Leys, C. (2017). Why psychologists should by default use
 Welch's t test instead of student's t test. *International Review of Social Psychology*, 30(1), 92–101. doi:10.5334/irsp.82
- Divayana, D. (2019). The implementation of blended learning with kelase platform in the learning of assessment and evaluation course. *International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Learning*, 14(17), 114–132. doi:10.3991/ijet.v14i17.8308
- Dziuban, C., Picciano, A., Graham, C., & Moskal, P. (2016). *Conducting research in online and blended learning environments: New pedagogical frontiers* [E-reader version]. Retrieved from https://onlinelearningconsortium.org/book/conductingresearch-online-blended-learning-environments/
- Dziuban, C., Graham, C., Moskal, P., Norberg, A., & Sicilia, N. (2018). Blended
 learning: The new normal and emerging technologies. *International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education*, 15(3). doi:10.1186/s41239-017-0087-5

- Eckardt, P., & Erlanger, A. E. (2018). Lessons learned in methods and analyses for pragmatic studies. *Nursing Outlook*, *66*(5), 446-454.
 doi:10.1016/j.outlook.2018.06.012
- Eyyam, R., & Yaratan, H. S. (2014). Impact of use of technology in mathematics lessons on student achievement and attitudes. *Social Behavior and Personality*, 42, 31-42. doi:10.2224/sbp.2014.42.0.S31.
- Fazal, M., & Bryant, M. (2019). Blended learning in middle school math: The question of effectiveness. *Journal of Online Learning Research*, 5(1), 49–64. Retrieved from http://www.aace.org/pubs/jolr/
- Hagiwara, A. (2015). Effect of visual support on the processing of multiclausal sentences. *Language Teaching Research*, *19*(4) 455–472. doi:10.1177/1362168814541715
- Haneuse, S. (2017). Distinguishing selection bias and confounding bias in comparative effectiveness research. *Med Care*, *54*(4), 23-29.

doi:10.1097/MLR.00000000000011

- Harris, J. L., Al-Bataineh, M. T., & Al-Bataineh, A. (2016). One to one technology and its effect on student academic achievement and motivation. *Contemporary Educational Technology*, 7(4), 368–381. Retrieved from http://www.cedtech.net/
- Helmenstine, A. (2019). The role of a controlled variable in an experiment. Retrieved from https://www.thoughtco.com/controlled-variable-definition-609094
- Hilton, J., & Canciello, J. (2015). Male and female perceptions of an iPad-based digital literacy curriculum. *Journal of Educational Multimedia & Hypermedia*, 24(1), 23-41.

- Horn, M. B., Staker, H., & Christensen, C. M. (2015). Blended: Using disruptive innovation to improve schools [E-reader version]. Retrieved from https://www.christenseninstitute.org/blended-learning-definitions-and-models/
- Kazakoff, E. R., Macaruso, P., & Hook, P. (2018). Efficacy of a blended learning approach to elementary school reading instruction for students who are English learners. *Educational Technology Research & Development*, 66(2), 429–449. doi:10.1007/s11423-017-9565-7
- Keengwe, J., & Kang, J.-J. (2013). A review of empirical research on blended learning in teacher education programs. *Education & Information Technologies*, 18(3), 479-493. doi:10.1007/s10639-011-9182-8
- Kelley, K., Clark, B., Brown, V., & Sitzia, J. (2003). Good practice in the conduct and reporting of survey research. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 15(3), 261-266. doi:10.1093/intqhc/mzg031
- Kennedy, M. J., Thomas, C. N., Meyer, J. P., Alves, K. D., & Lloyd, J. W. (2014). Using evidence-based multimedia to improve vocabulary performance of adolescents with LD: A UDL approach. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, *37*(2), 71-86. doi:10.1177/0731948713507262

Kingpum, P., Ruangsuwan, C., & Chaicharoen, S. (2015). A development of a collaborative blended learning model to enhance learning achievement and thinking ability of undergraduate students at the Institute of Physical Education. *Educational Research and Reviews*, 10(15), 2168-2177. Retrieved from https://www.academicjournals.org/ERR

- Koehler, M. J., & Mishra, P. (2009). What is technological pedagogical content knowledge? *Contemporary Issues in Technology and Teacher Education*, 9(1), 60-70. Retrieved from https://www.citejournal.org/volume-9/issue-1-09/general/what-is-technological-pedagogicalcontent-knowledge/
- Lin, Y. (2016). When mobile technology meets traditional classroom learning environment: How does it improve students' learning performances? *Journal of Education Research*, 10(3), 249-262.
- Lin, Y., Tseng, C., & Chiang, P. (2017). The effect of blended learning in mathematics course. EURASIA Journal of Mathematics, Science & Technology Education, 13(3), 741–770. doi:10.12973/eurasia.2017.00641a
- MacKinnon, D. P. (2011). Integrating mediators and moderators in research design. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 21(6), 675–681.
 doi:10.1177/1049731511414148
- Mahalli, Nurkamto, J., Mujiyanto, J., & Yuliasri, I. (2019). The implementation of station rotation and flipped classroom models of blended learning in EFL learning.
 English Language Teaching, 12(12), 23-29. doi:10.5539/elt.v12n12p23
- Mayer, R. E. (2009). Multimedia learning (2nd ed.). Cambridge, MA: Cambridge University Press. doi:10.1017/CBO9780511811678
- Mayer, R. E. (2014). *The Cambridge handbook of multimedia learning*. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press. doi:10.1177/0267659114559116

McCusker, K., & Gunaydin, S. (2019). Research using qualitative, quantitative, or mixed methods and choice based on the research. *Perfusion*, *30*(7), 537–542.
doi:10.1177/0267659114559116

McGee, P., & Reis, A. (2012). Blended course design: A synthesis of best practices.
Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks, 16(4), 7-22.
doi:10.24059/olj.v16i4.239

- Means, B., Bakia, M., & Murphy, R. (2014). *Learning online: What research tells us whether, when, and how.* New York, NY: Routledge/ Taylor & Francis Group.
- Means, B., Toyama, Y., Murphy, R., Bakia, M., & Jones, K. (2010). Evaluation of evidence-based practices in online learning: A meta-analysis and review of online learning studies. U.S. Department of Education. Retrieved from https://www2.ed.gov/rschstat/eval/tech/evidence-based-practices/finalreport.pdf
- Miller, B., & Hollist, S. (2007). Attrition bias. Faculty publications, Department of Child, Youth, and Family Studies. Retrieved from https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/famconfacpub/45
- Minicozzi, L. (2018). iPads and pre-service teaching: Exploring the use of iPads in k-2 classrooms. *International Journal of Information & Learning Technology*, 35(3), 160–180. doi:10.1108/IJILT-05-2017-0032/

Misfeldt, M., & Zacho, L. (2016). Supporting primary-level mathematics teachers' collaboration in designing and using technology-based scenarios. *Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education*, 19(2/3), 227–241. doi:10.1007/s10857-015-9336-5

Northwest Evaluation Association. (2016). *Linking the ACT ASPIRE Assessments to NWEA MAP Assessments*. Northwest Evaluation Association. Retrieved from http://nwea.org

Northwest Evaluation Association. (2019). About NWEA. Retrieved from https://www.nwea.org/map-growth/

Prescott, J., Bundschuh, K., Kazakoff, E., & Macaruso, P. (2018) Elementary schoolwide implementation of a blended learning program for reading intervention, *The Journal of Educational Research*, *111*(4), 497-506. doi:10.1080/00220671.2017.1302914

Powell, A., Watson, J., Staley, P., Patrick, S., Horn, M., Fetzer, L.,... Verma, S. (2015).
Blending learning: The evolution of online and face-to-face education from 2008-2015. Promising practices in blended and online learning series. *International Association for K-12 Online Learning*. Retrieved from http://www.inacol.org

Sahin, M. D., & Öztürk, G. (2019). Mixed method research: Theoretical foundations, designs, and its use in educational research. *International Journal of Contemporary Educational Research*, 6(2), 301–310. doi:10.33200/ijcer.574002

Sargent, L., & Miles, E. (2016). Transforming the classroom with tablet technology. *Nurse Educator*, *41*(6), 309-312. doi:10.1097/NNE.00000000000278.

Schuler, A., Scheiter, K., & van Genuchten, E. (2011). The role of working memory in multimedia instruction: Is working memory working during learning from text and pictures? *Educational Psychology Review*, 23(3), 389-411. doi:10.1007/s10648-011-9168-5

- Seage, S. J., & Türegün, M. (2020). The effects of blended learning on STEM achievement of elementary school students. *International Journal of Research in Education and Science*, 6(1), 133–140. doi:10.46328/ijres.v6i1.728
- Shechtman, N., Roschelle, J., Feng, M., & Singleton, C. (2019). An efficacy study of a digital core curriculum for grade 5 mathematics. *AERA Open*, 5(2). doi:10.1177/2332858419850482
- Shultz, K., Hoffman, C., & Reiter-Palmon, R. (2005). Using archival data for I-O research: Advantages, pitfalls, sources, and examples. *Psychology Faculty Publications*, 2(3), 31-37. Retrieved from

https://digitalcommons.unomaha.edu/psychfacpub/5

- Siedlecki, S. L. (2020). Understanding descriptive research designs and methods. *Clinical Nurse Specialist: The Journal for Advanced Nursing Practice*, 34(1), 8–12. doi:10.1097/NUR.000000000000493
- Stangroom, J. (2020). Statistics calculator. Social Science Statistics. Retrieved from https://www.socscistatistics.com/tests/
- Trochim, W. M., Donnelly, J. P., & Arora, K. (2016). *Research methods: The essential knowledge base*. Boston, MA, MA: Cengage Learning.
- Ullman, E. (2017). Stir it up: blended instruction takes on many forms, but districts agree that it's a winner for teachers and students. *Tech & Learning*, *38*(*4*), 28–34.
 Retrieved from https://www.techlearning.com/magazine/nov-2017
- Warner, R. M. (2013). Applied statistics: From bivariate through multivariate techniques. (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.

- White, H., & Sabarwal, S. (2014). *Quasi-experimental design and methods. Methodological briefs: Impact Evaluation 8.* UNICEF Office of Research.
 Retrieved from https://www.unicef-irc.org/publications/pdf/brief_8_quasi-experimental%20design_eng.pdf
- Working, C. (2018). The effects of technology-mediated dialogic learning in elementary mathematics instruction. *Journal of Computers in Mathematics & Science Teaching*, 37(3), 265-286. Retrieved from http://www.aace.org/pubs/jcmst
- Yaghmour, K. S. (2016). Effectiveness of blended teaching strategy on the achievement of third grade students in mathematics. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 7(5), 65-73. Retrieved from https://iiste.org/Journals/index.php/JEP
- Yeşil Dağlı, U. (2019). Effect of increased instructional time on student achievement. *Educational Review*, 71(4), 501–517.
 doi:10.1080/00131911.2018.1441808
- Yudt, K., & Columba, L. (2017). The effects of blended learning in pre-service elementary mathematics teachers' performance and attitude. *National Teacher Education Journal*, 10(1), 17-25. Retrieved from http://www.ntejournal.com/





Appendix B: Informed Consent

You are invited to take part in a research study about blended learning using the rotation model. The researcher is inviting selected Central Indiana elementary principals that work at a school that is identified as using 1-to-1 devices to be in the study. One-to-one devices can be defined in this study as 1 laptop or iPad for each student in the classroom. This form is part of a process called "informed consent" to allow you to understand this study before deciding whether to take part.

This study is being conducted by a researcher named Heather A. Roach, who is a doctoral student at Walden University. You may know me as a former employee, but this study is separate from that role.

Background Information:

The purpose of this study is to determine the effect of blended learning using the rotation model on fourth and fifth grade students' achievement in mathematics.

Procedures:

If you agree to be in this study, you will be asked to:

- Complete a short survey to provide information about the 4th and 5th grade teachers in your building. This survey will help identify the type of instruction that is happening in each classroom. This survey should take approximately 20-30 minutes to complete.
- Share de identified student data from the NWEA Map Growth Mathematics Assessment from the 2019-2020 school year. This data will be sent to the researcher in a spreadsheet. This data sharing should take approximately 15-20 minutes to complete.

Step 1: Download student data from 2019-2020 NWEA Map Growth Mathematics
Assessment
Step 2: Transfer this data into the provided spreadsheet
Step 3: Email the spreadsheet that includes the deidentified student NWEA Map
Growth Mathematics Assessment data to the researcher

Voluntary Nature of the Study:

This study is voluntary. You are free to accept or turn down the invitation. No one at Walden University will treat you differently if you decide not to be in the study. If you decide to be in the study now, you can still change your mind later. You may stop at any time.

Risks and Benefits of Being in the Study:

Being in this type of study involves some risk of the minor discomforts that can be encountered in daily life, such as fatigue. Being in this study would not pose risk to your safety or wellbeing.

Knowledge of the effect of blended learning on student achievement may help school principals and teachers make informed decisions regarding instruction in mathematics.

Payment:

As a thank you for your time and participation in this study, you will be mailed a \$10 Starbucks gift card.

Privacy:

Reports coming out of this study will not share the identities of individual participants. Details that might identify participants, such as the location of the study, also will not be shared. The researcher will not use your personal information for any purpose outside of this research project. Data will be kept secure by using de identified student data that will be stored with password protection. Data will be kept for a period of at least 5 years, as required by the university.

Contacts and Questions:

You may ask any questions you have now. Or if you have questions later, you may contact the researcher via email at <u>heather.roach@waldenu.edu</u> or at 317-716-2039. If you want to talk privately about your rights as a participant, you can call the Research Participant Advocate at my university at 612-312-1210. Walden University's approval number for this study is 06-12-20-0721472 and it expires on June 11th, 2021.

Please print or save this consent form for your records.

Obtaining Your Consent

If you feel you understand the study well enough and you would like to participate in this study, the first page of the survey will provide an informed consent letter. Please read the informed consent letter and click continue to indicate your consent and complete the survey. If you read the consent letter and do not wish to participate in the survey do not click continue and close the survey window.

Appendix C: Sample Invitation Email to Participants

Dear [principal]

My name is Heather Roach. I am a doctoral student at Walden University. I am asking for your participation in a doctoral study that I am conducting titled: The Effects of Blended Learning Using the Rotation Model on Fourth and Fifth Grade Students' Mathematics Scores. The purpose of this quantitative study is to determine the effect of blended learning using the rotation model on fourth and fifth grade students' achievement in mathematics. In this study, I will use fourth and fifth grade de-identified student NWEA Map Growth Mathematics Assessment data so that I can add to the research on the effectiveness of blended learning using the rotation model.

You will be asked to complete a short survey to provide information about the 4th and 5th grade teachers in your building. This survey will help identify the type of instruction that is happening in each classroom. This survey should take approximately 20-30 minutes to complete. You will also be asked to share de identified student data from the NWEA Map Growth Mathematics Assessment from the 2019-2020 school year. This data will be emailed to the researcher in a spreadsheet. This data sharing should take approximately 15-20 minutes to complete.

If you would like to participate in this study, please click on the survey link below. The first page of the survey will provide an informed consent letter. Please read the informed consent letter and click continue to indicate your consent and complete the survey. If you read the consent letter and do not wish to participate in the survey do not click continue and close the survey window. Survey link: <u>https://forms.gle/fGuf4ZyRYNGPq4qK7</u>

Thank you in advance for your time and participation. If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me at <u>heather.roach@waldenu.edu</u> or at 317-716-2039. Sincerely,

Heather Roach

Doctoral Student

Walden University

Appendix D: Survey Results





Thinking about your 4th grade teachers in alphabetical order, please identify the type of instruction the teacher uses during mathematics: Fourth grade teacher A mathematics instruction (please see the definition of instruction at the top of the survey.)



If you marked "Other", please explain.

1 response

N/A







Thinking about the 5th grade teachers in alphabetical order, please identify the type of instruction the teacher uses during mathematics: Fifth grade teacher A mathematics instruction (please see the definition of instruction at the top of the survey.)



No responses yet for this question.

Fifth grade teacher B mathematics instruction (please see the definition of instruction at the top of the survey.)



81

Γ



If you marked "Other", please explain.

0 responses

No responses yet for this question.



3 responses





Fifth grade teacher E mathematics instruction (please see the definition of instruction at the top of the survey.)

If you marked "Other", please explain.

1 response

N/A